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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF OREGON
MEDFORD DIVISION
TYLER LYNN, Case No. 1:24-cv-211
Plaintiff,
COMPLAINT
V. FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

MELISSA GOFF, in her official capacity as

Interim Executive Director of the Oregon

Teacher Standards and Practices

Commission,

Defendant.
INTRODUCTION
1. Tyler Lynn has been an Oregon public school teacher for over 20 years. He is

bilingual and teaches all levels of Spanish. He has also taught English language development to

students whose first language is not English. Mr. Lynn is beloved by his students and colleagues.
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He welcomes students of all backgrounds into his classroom and is dedicated to giving each of
them an enriching environment where they can learn and develop a new language and gain an
appreciation for other cultures. The respect he gives his class doesn’t just come from his solemn
duty as a public school teacher to protect his students’ constitutional rights, but also from his
fundamental belief in treating his students fairly and with dignity.

2. Oregon could use a lesson from Mr. Lynn. Unlike how Mr. Lynn treats his students,
Oregon treats its teachers differently based on their race. The state’s Diversity License
Reimbursement Program reimburses select teachers for the cost of obtaining or renewing their
teaching licenses. But Mr. Lynn is not eligible since the program only reimburses “diverse”
teachers. Despite a career dedicated to teaching a foreign language and educating about other
cultures, Mr. Lynn does not qualify as “diverse” under Oregon law. Consequently, when Mr. Lynn
tried to apply to the program to cover the costs of renewing his license, he was denied.

3. Oregon’s discriminatory treatment of long-serving and devoted teachers like
Mr. Lynn is particularly problematic in a state where teachers are in high demand and schools
struggle to retain their staff. Bilingual teachers are in especially short supply. Despite the difference
that Mr. Lynn is making—including in expanding diversity and increasing his students’
appreciation for other cultures—the state denies him a benefit that would help offset expenses for
teachers like him. And the state denies him that benefit solely because he has the wrong skin color.

4. As Mr. Lynn has always stood up for fairness and equality, he is taking a stand for
the right to be treated equally in the state’s Diversity License Reimbursement Program. In doing
so through this lawsuit, he is continuing an essential lesson for his students that the government

must treat individuals equally and fairly, regardless of their race.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This action arises under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution, 42 U.S.C. § 1983. This Court has jurisdiction over these federal claims under 28
U.S.C. §§ 1331 (federal question) and 1343(a) (redress for deprivation of civil rights). Declaratory
relief is authorized by the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202.

6. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as Defendant is a resident
of this judicial district and the state of Oregon. Venue is also proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1391(b) because the events giving rise to the claim occurred or will occur in this district.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Tyler Lynn is an individual who resides in Eagle Point, Oregon. Mr. Lynn
is classified as white by Oregon law. He attempted to apply for the Diversity License Expense
Reimbursement Program on or about October 23, 2023. Mr. Lynn is able and ready to apply for
the reimbursement program if his race and ethnicity were not a bar to applying.

8. Defendant Melissa Goff is the Interim Executive Director of the Oregon Teacher
Standards and Practices Commission (TSPC). TSPC is an agency of the state of Oregon which
licenses and establishes proficiency standards for state educators. It consists of 17 members who
are appointed by the Governor. TSPC appoints an Executive Director to provide services as the
commission requires. As the Interim Executive Director of TSPC, Ms. Goff is responsible for
providing guidance on and oversight of TSPC programs and possesses final policy-making
authority. Ms. Goff is being sued in her official capacity.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

The Diversity License Expense Reimbursement Program
0. On May 16, 2019, the Oregon governor approved HB 3427, the “Student Success
Act.” The Act enacted Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon Laws, which directed the state
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Department of Education and the Educator Advancement Council to consult with TSPC and a
variety of other education stakeholders to develop plans for programs and initiatives for teacher
professional development. The goals for these plans included increasing educator retention and
diversity.

10. TSPC then created the Diversity License Expense Reimbursement Program. TSPC
established the criteria and funding for the program by adopting Oregon Administrative Rules 584-
200-0120 and 584-200-0121.

11.  Under the program, TSPC will reimburse teachers, administrators, and personnel
for the cost of seeking, obtaining, and renewing their licenses.

12. To be eligible for reimbursement under the program, a teacher must have submitted
an application and fee, as well as incurred eligible expenses for obtaining or renewing a teaching
license between July 1, 2020, and June 30, 2024.

13.  Eligible expenses include the cost for license fees, fingerprinting, transcripts, or
other expenses as approved by the TSPC Executive Director. Applicants cannot have received a
reimbursement for their costs elsewhere.

14. Not every teacher who has incurred license fees and expenses is eligible for
reimbursement. To obtain a reimbursement, a teacher must be “of diverse origins or language,” as
defined in section 342.433 of Oregon Revised Statutes.

15. Under section 342.433, “Diverse” means:

Culturally or linguistically diverse characteristics of a person, including:

(a) Origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa but is not Hispanic;

(b) Hispanic culture or origin, regardless of race;

Complaint 4



Case 1:24-cv-00211-CL  Document 1 Filed 02/01/24 Page 5 of 11

(c) Origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian

subcontinent or the Pacific Islands;

(d) Origins in any of the original peoples of North America, including American

Indians or Alaska Natives; or

(e) A first language that is not English.

16. A true and correct copy of the program’s eligibility criteria and application
instructions are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit A.

17.  Because eligibility is based on race, a white applicant can receive a reimbursement
only if their first language is not English. On the other hand, minority applicants are automatically
eligible for reimbursement regardless of their first language.

18. TSPC asserted several reasons in the rules it promulgated for establishing the
program’s criteria and funding, explaining, “By lowering barriers, candidates will be encouraged
to be licensed and part of Oregon’s education workforce ....” Oregon Teacher Standards and
Practices Commission, Temporary Administrative Order No. TSPC 6-2020 (November 12, 2020).

19. TSPC also asserted that the program would “mitigate the barriers educators of
diverse backgrounds face to be licensed,” and that without it, “there can be no lowering of barriers,
thereby preventing the increased workforce diversity and better student outcomes.” /d., Temporary
Administrative Order No. TSPC 1-2021 (May 15, 2021).

20. Furthermore, the program would “increase the diversity of the educator workforce
so that it reflects the percentage of diverse students in Oregon.” Id., Permanent Administrator
Order No. TPSC 16-2021 (November 10, 2021).

21. These reasons align with the state’s goal set forth in section 342.437 of Oregon

Revised Statutes to have “the percentage of diverse educators employed by a school district or an
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education service district reflect[] the percentage of diverse students in the public schools of this
state or the percentage of diverse students in the district.”

22. To apply for the program, applicants must complete the electronic Licensure Fees
Reimbursement Request Form on the TSPC website. They must also submit receipts of their
expenses and other required documentation to LicenseReimburse.tspc@tspc.oregon.gov, or
upload them to their account on the TSPC eLicensing system.

23. TSPC has funding for the program from July 1, 2020, to June 30, 2024.

TSPC Prevents Mr. Lynn from Applying for a Reimbursement Because of His Race

24.  Mr. Lynn is a public school teacher with the Eagle Point School District. He
possesses a professional teaching license, which permits him to teach pre-kindergarten through
twelfth grade classes in Oregon public school districts, education service districts, and charter
schools. His license is valid for five years and renewable if he completes continuing professional
development requirements.

25. On June 9, 2021, Mr. Lynn applied to renew his professional teaching license. He
paid the $182.00 application fee and a $10.00 portal service fee for using the TSPC eLicensing
portal to submit his application and other requisite documents, paying a total of $192.00.

26. Mr. Lynn’s professional teaching license is a type of license for which the fees and
costs are eligible for reimbursement under TSPC’s Diversity License Expense Reimbursement
Program.

27. But Mr. Lynn is not eligible to receive a reimbursement because Oregon does not
consider him “diverse.”

28. On October 23, 2023, Mr. Lynn initiated an application on the TSPC website for

the reimbursement program. The first question on the application verified Mr. Lynn’s eligibility
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for the program by asking him to confirm that he applied to renew his teaching license after July 1,
2020; that he incurred qualifying license expenses, such as a fee paid in eLicensing; that he had
not been reimbursed for these costs elsewhere; that he had not received any prepaid test vouchers
for these costs; and that he met the definition of a “diverse educator” under section 342.433 of the
Oregon Revised Statutes.

29. Mr. Lynn was able to confirm that he satisfies each of the listed eligibility
requirements except for the one that requires him to be a diverse educator. Mr. Lynn does not meet
Oregon’s definition of a diverse educator because he is not a racial minority and English is his first
language. He thus indicated on the application he did not satisfy each of the requisites to be eligible

for reimbursement:

Licensie Feas Reimbursenent

Recquesi Foom (202524 )

Application Form for Reimbursemeant

1. You are eligibhe when all items below apply fo you

4/ | have applied for a teacher, administraior, or personnel ssndce license, regisiration, or
cerbficabe or to add an endarsement or specialization or renewal on or afler July 1, 2020, Mo
Clinical Practices Clearanca doas na qualif &5 3 llicanss; hioweyer, 1he cosls for clearancse ma

Juisy far reimburssment whan the appicant applies Tor 3 qualifving licansa

+/ | hawe incurred a qualifying license axpense (for example, a fee pald In elicansing, a fee pakl
b complate an DRELA, Praxie tagi, ar the edTRA, o another qualifying expansa) on or aftar
Tr2020

»f | meet the definiton of *divarse educator” s defined in QRS 242433,

f | have ral been feimbursad for these cosls slsewhans,

+f | have ol received any pre-paid test veuchers for thase costs.

D all five of these above-listed ilems apply to you? *

—

L5 ves

@ Ho
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30.  As a result, the application informed Mr. Lynn that he did not qualify for the

reimbursement program:

Ligansune Fees Reimbursemeant

Reguesst Form (2023243

" Requied

Program Qualification Cuestions

Z. |t appears that you don't qualify for the reimbursemant program. Do you hawve any further
questions for us? *

This Srint i oreaned Ty BT o o 10 Form. THo dala voes Subimet will D sent 10 he o cwrear, Missosok i nol rasponeizia for e
privngy or secunty prachices of de cumiomar, indiading froea of e lorm owm e Kener gion ol yoor passsc]

Pirsarad brp Pscrorsadt Fonms |

The e of Tka lorm has nol pecsided @ privacy slaiomaent 26 i how thoy will sta your mepoase data: Do nol provda sersonal o corsiive
inkgimerion

| T o wie

31. Mr. Lynn would be eligible for reimbursement if he were a racial or ethnic minority.
32.  To date, Mr. Lynn has not been reimbursed or otherwise received any funds from

the Diversity License Expense Reimbursement Program.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF

TSPC’S Race-Based Eligibility Requirements for License Reimbursement
Violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment
Through 42 U.S.C. § 1983
33. Plaintiff incorporates and realleges each and every allegation contained in the
preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.
34, Those aggrieved by constitutional violations undertaken by state actors acting
under color of law have a private right of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

35. State actors and their agents, under the color of state law, have enacted and

enforced, and will continue to enact and enforce, the state’s eligibility preference for minority
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applicants for reimbursement of license fees and expenses, including reimbursements under the
Diversity License Expense Reimbursement Program, Oregon Administrative Rules 584-200-0120
and 584-200-0121, and Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon Laws. Defendant authorized,
developed, and implemented the state’s preference for minority applicants.

36. The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution provides that no state shall “deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal
protection of the laws.”

37. Oregon’s eligibility preference for minority applicants for reimbursement of license
fees and expenses, including reimbursements under the Diversity License Expense
Reimbursement Program, Oregon Administrative Rules 584-200-0120 and 584-200-0121, and
Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon Laws, is subject to strict scrutiny.

38.  Defendant does not have a compelling interest in providing an eligibility preference
to minority applicants for reimbursement of license fees and expenses, including reimbursements
under the Diversity License Expense Reimbursement Program, Oregon Administrative Rules 584-
200-0120 and 584-200-0121, and Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon Laws.

39. Defendant’s eligibility preference for minority applicants for reimbursement of
license fees and expenses, including reimbursements under the Diversity License Expense
Reimbursement Program, Oregon Administrative Rules 584-200-0120 and 584-200-0121, and
Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon Laws, is not narrowly tailored to a compelling

government interest.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Complaint

Declare Oregon’s eligibility preference for minority applicants for reimbursement of
license fees and expenses, including reimbursements under the Diversity License
Expense Reimbursement Program, Oregon Administrative Rules 584-200-0120 and
584-200-0121, and Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon Laws unconstitutional
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment
to the United States Constitution;

Permanently enjoin Defendant and Defendant’s officers, agents, affiliates, servants,
successors, employees, and all other persons in active concert or participation with
Defendant from enforcing or giving any effect to Oregon statutes, administrative rules,
and any other policy, practice, or procedure that prefers minority applicants for
reimbursement of license fees and expenses, including reimbursements under the
Diversity License Expense Reimbursement Program, Oregon Administrative Rules
584-200-0120 and 584-200-0121, and Chapter 122, Section 48 of the 2019 Oregon
Laws, and from otherwise discriminating on the basis of race in administering such
reimbursement programs;

Issue an award of attorneys’ fees and costs in this action pursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 54(d) and 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and

Provide such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

10
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DATED: February 1, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,

By s/ Christina M. Martin
Andrew R. Quinio, Cal. Bar No. 288101* Christina M. Martin. OSB #084117
AQuinio@pacificlegal.org ’
Joshua P. Thompson, Cal. Bar No. 250955*

Lead Counsel

JThompson@pacificlegal.org CMgrtin@paciﬁclegal_.org
Pacific Legal Foundation Pacific Legal Foundation

555 Capitol Mall, Suite 1290 555 Capitol Mall, Suite 1290
Sacramento, California 95814 Sacramento, California 95814
Telephone: (916) 419-7111 Telephone: (916) 419-7111

Attorneys for Plaintiff Tyler Lynn
* pro hac vice motions forthcoming
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Diversity License Expense Reimbursements

Contents
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Introduction

Thank you for your interest in applying for a Diversity License Expense Reimbursement (DLER). The
Oregon Legislature, through the Student Success Act, has authorized TSPC to mitigate costs associated
with TSPC licensure and assessments for racially, ethnically, and/or linguistically diverse teacher,
administrator, and/or personnel service candidates, as well as current racially, ethnically, and/or
linguistically diverse teachers, administrators, and/or personnel service providers renewing licenses or
adding endorsements or specializations to their licenses. TSPC has funding for the program from July
1, 2020, to June 30, 2024.

The information below will guide you through the required steps to complete your request, as well as
outline the items eligible for reimbursement.

Am | eligible to apply*?

You are eligible for a stipend of approved expenses leading to licensure for teaching, administration, or
personnel service if you meet the following:

e If you submitted an application* and fee and incurred an eligible expense (see pg. 2) between
July 1, 2020 and June 30, 2024.
e If you are of diverse origins or language.
o Under ORS 342.433, “Diverse” means culturally or linguistically diverse characteristics of
a person, including:
e QOrigins in any of the Black racial groups of Africa but is not Hispanic;
e Hispanic culture or origin, regardless of race;
e Origins in any of the original peoples of the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian
subcontinent or the Pacific Islands;
e QOrigins in any of the original peoples of North America, including American Indians
or Alaskan Natives; or
e Afirst language that is not English.

* Note: An application for a Clinical Practices Clearance is not an application for a license and does not
qualify for eligibility under the DLER program until an application for licensure has been submitted.
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Item

Documentation

TSPC license application fees

elicensing receipt

Fingerprint costs to TSPC

elicensing receipt

Fingerprint costs to FieldPrint

FieldPrint Receipt

Assessment costs-must be an
assessment approved by the Commission
or NASDTEC jurisdiction.

Receipt issued by testing company

Transcripts

Receipt issued by institution for official
transcripts

Foreign transcript evaluation required for
application for a covered license

Receipt issued by transcript evaluation service

Tuition for tutoring or remedial courses not
otherwise eligible for financial aid that are
necessary to achieve candidacy for licensure,
as determined by the educator preparation
program.

Receipt for professional tutoring services or for
tuition paid to an accredited college or
university and documentation from your
educational institution stating that the tutoring
or coursework was necessary to support
licensure

IRS-reimbursable mileage costs from residence
to testing center and back.

Evidence of location of testing center. This
information will be compared to the address on
file to confirm mileage.

Other expenses as approved by the Executive
Director.

Receipt of expense, plus written explanation of
the item.

Ineligible Expenses:

Please review OAR 584-200-0120 for a list of expenses that are ineligible for reimbursement. Note:
The Teacher Standards and Practices Commission may suspend or revoke the license or registration of
an educator, discipline an educator, or suspend or revoke the right of any person to apply for a license
or registration, if the licensee, registrant or applicant knowingly makes any false statement in an
application for reimbursement of licensure expenses.

How to Apply:

Please complete the Licensure Fees Reimbursement Request Form found on the Diversity License
Expense Reimbursement page and submit receipts and any other required documentation to the
following email address: LicenseReimburse.tspc@oregon.gov*. You may also upload receipts/
documents to the elicensing system 'Documents' tab.

* Emails from the LicenseReimburse.tspc@oregon.gov may contain information that is privileged, confidential, or otherwise exempt from
disclosure under applicable law. Therefore, if you are not the addressee, or it appears from the context, or otherwise you have received an
email in error, please advise us immediately by reply email, keep the contents confidential, and immediately delete the message and any
attachments from your system.
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of Oregon

TYLER LYNN

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:24-cv-211

MELISSA GOFF, in her official capacity as Interim
Executive Director of the Oregon Teacher Standards
and Practices Commission,

Defendant(s)

N N N N N N N N N N N N

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Melissa Goff
Teacher Standards and Practices Commission
250 Division St NE
Salem, OR 97301-1012

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Christina M. Martin

Pacific Legal Foundation
555 Capitol Mall, Suite 1290
Sacramento, California 95814

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 1:24-cv-211

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
(3 I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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